# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-10-2019

# Parkinson v. Bevis Appellant's Brief Dckt. 46269

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

- a. Did the District Court Err in Dismissing Parkinson's Claim?
- b. Did the District Court Err in Not Allowing Amendments to Parkinson's Claim?
- c. Did the District Court Err in Denying Parkinson's Motion for Reconsideration?
- d. Did the District Court Err in Awarding Bevis his Costs?

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

"When this Court reviews an order dismissing an action pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), we apply the same standard of review we apply to a motion for summary judgment. [The Supreme] Court reviews an appeal from an order of summary judgment de novo, and this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Syringa Networks, Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Idaho Dep't of Admin.,* 159 Idaho 813, 367 P.3d 208 (2016) (internal citations omitted). "A 12(b)(6) motion looks only at the pleadings to determine whether a

claim for relief has been stated. On review of a dismissal [the Supreme] Court determines whether the non-movant has alleged sufficient facts in support of his claim, which if true, would entitle him to relief. In doing so, the Court draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party." *Savage v. Scandit Inc.*, 163 Idaho 637, 640, 417 P.3d 234, 237 (2018) (internal citations omitted).

"A court's decision to allow the amendment of pleadings is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. When determining whether a trial court has abused its discretion, this Court asks: (1) whether the court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether it acted within the outer boundaries of that discretion and consistently with any applicable legal standards; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Hayward v. Valley Vista Care Corp.*, 136 Idaho 342, 345, 33 P.3d 816, 819 (2001).

#### ARGUMENTS

#### 1. Findings Not at Issue on Appeal:

It is necessary to begin Parkinson's legal arguments by summarizing the District Court's findings and conclusions, which are not at issue on appeal, as follows:

- A client can sue his or her attorney for breach of fiduciary duty arising out of the attorneyclient relationship, just as any other principal can sue his or her agent(s) for breach of fiduciary duty. The standards articulated by the Idaho Supreme Court in *Rockefeller v. Grabow*, 136 Idaho 637, 39 P.3d 577 (2001) ("Rockefeller I"), and the standards in the Restatement 3d of the Law Governing Lawyers, § 37 (3rd 2000), "Partial or Complete Forfeiture of a Lawyer's Compensation," are the governing standards for an attorney-client breach of fiduciary duty claim. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 108).
- The Supreme Court has not categorically barred a client from suing his or her attorney for a breach of the attorney's fiduciary duty simply because the duty arose from an attorney-client relationship. The only known exception is when the breach of fiduciary duty claim is capable

of being litigated in the alternative as a professional negligence claim. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 103-104).

 Parkinson based her breach of fiduciary duty arguments on a good faith interpretation of existing Idaho Supreme Court precedent. Bevis' request for Idaho Code § 12-121 fees was therefore not warranted. Bevis did not cite to any other statute that would entitle him to prevailing party attorney fees. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 253-254).

Parkinson is not challenging the above conclusions on appeal, and Bevis has not filed a cross-appeal under I.A.R. 15(a) to further challenge the conclusions. The District Court has already ruled on the propriety of the form of Parkinson's claim (R. vo. 1, pp, 34-38, 133-140), and on the impropriety of Bevis' fees claim (R. Vol. 1, pp. 185-187), and those conclusions should not be disturbed on appeal. Should Bevis attempt to challenge the above conclusions as additional issues on appeal under I.A.R. 35(b)(4), and should the Court somehow permit the challenges, Parkinson reserves the right to address the additional issues in her reply brief. See I.A.R. 35(c). For now, Parkinson is only challenging the Court's procedural errors in dismissing her claim when the claim was not duplicative of a legal malpractice claim.

#### 2. <u>The District Court Erred in Dismissing Parkinson's Claim:</u>

The District Court erred in dismissing Parkinson's claim. This error is subject to an abuse of discretion review standard. "When this Court reviews an alleged abuse of discretion by a trial court the sequence of inquiry requires consideration of four essentials. Whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason." *State v. Le Veque*, 426 P.3d 461, 464 (2018). The District Court abused its discretion under the third prong of this test because it did not follow appropriate Rule 12(b) dismissal standards and Rule 15(a) amendment standards. Also, the District abused its

discretion under the fourth prong of this test because it reached a decision, which was contrary to its own conclusions of law. The Supreme Court should reverse the District Court's dismissal and reconsideration orders and allow the claim to be amended and to proceed to trial on its merits.

#### a. The District Court Did Not Follow Rule 12 Dismissal Standards:

The Supreme Court should reverse the District Court's dismissal order because the District Court did not follow appropriate Rule 12(b) dismissal standards. Specifically, the District Court erred in dismissing Parkinson's breach of fiduciary duty claim based on a finding that the claim did not have enough supporting details. The Court explained:

Plaintiff's allegations are mixed assertions of fact and conclusions of law. The allegation that Defendant shared information with her husband's attorney is an assertion of fact. The argument that such information was confidential is a proposition of law. Plaintiff has failed to allege in her complaint what information it is that she claims Defendant disclosed or when and how Defendant acquired it. Therefore, this Court cannot independently determine whether her proposition that such information was 'attorney-client confidential' is correct. Similarly, Plaintiff alleges Defendant breached his fiduciary duty by 'disclosing attorney-client privileged communications.' The assertion that Defendant disclosed communications is an assertion of fact, albeit a vague one. The argument that those communications were privileged under I.R.E. 502 is a legal one. The Plaintiff has failed to allege what the communications were, whom they were between, or the circumstances under which she alleges those took place. Therefore, the Court cannot assess her legal argument is correct.

(R. Vol. 1, pp. 109-110).

The legal error with the Court's conclusion is that it required Parkinson to prove her legal theories at the same time she was trying to assert the theories for the first time in her pleadings. The Supreme Court has expressly rejected such requirements. See *Hammer v. Ribi*, 162 Idaho 570, 575 n.1, 401 P.3d 148, 153 (2017) (the Supreme Court approved of using legal terminology as a means to complying with notice pleading standards and avoiding a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal). In short, the Court erred in requiring Parkinson to plead her claim to such a degree that the Court could assess whether "her legal argument [was] correct" as a means of overcoming Bevis' defenses. (R. Vol. 1, p. 110). The Court's view on the sufficiency of Parkinson's pleadings runs contrary to Idaho case law,

which imposes a relatively low burden of presenting claims: "The key issue in determining the validity of a complaint is whether the adverse party is put on notice of the claims brought against it." *Seiniger Law Office, P.A. v. N. Pac. Ins. Co.,* 145 Idaho 241, 246-47, 178 P.3d 606, 611-12 (2008). Here, Parkinson put Bevis on full notice of the nature of her claim, i.e., breach of fiduciary duty. As a matter of law, the Court should have recognized this and allowed Parkinson's claim to proceed on its merits under the *Rockefeller I* and Restatement 3d of the Law Governing Lawyers, § 37 (3rd 2000) standards.

In Savage v. Scandit Inc., 417 P.3d 234 (Idaho 2018), the Supreme Court confirmed that Rule 12(b) dismissal is not proper if the pleadings contain allegations which, if proven, would constitute a triable claim. In that case, Savage claimed that her employer, Scandit, had breached the Idaho Wage Claim Act by withholding certain commissions and bonuses. Scandit responded by saying that these items were not yet earned at the time Savage had filed her complaint. Scandit then filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, and the District Court granted the motion. On appeal, this Court reversed and remanded. The Court noted the key question in such cases is "...whether the nonmovant has alleged sufficient facts in support of his claim, which if true, would entitle him to relief. In doing so, the Court draws all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party." Id., at p. 237. The Court found that the allegations stated in Savage's complaint, i.e., that she had already earned the wage items, together with reasonable inferences in Savage's favor, were enough to defeat Scandit's dismissal motion. The Court also found that the question of whether Savage would ultimately prevail on her wage claims was immaterial in a dismissal context: "While Scandit may be able to show later that the deal was not formally booked or that there were contingencies that prevented the booking, for purposes of a motion to dismiss pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) Savage has stated a claim under the Idaho Wage Claim Act." Id., at p. 239. Here, Parkinson met this pleading standard by alleging that Bevis had disclosed her confidential communications to her litigation opponent and that she was entitled to relief from the Court. Parkinson did not have to support her claim with any further evidence.<sup>1</sup> The Court erred in dismissing the claim.

See also *Markstaller v. Markstaller*, 326 P.2d 994, 997, 80 Idaho 129, 134-135 (1958) (a trial court abuses its discretion by dismissing a complaint if the complaint is capable of amendments); *Clark v. Olsen*, 110 Idaho 323, 325, 715 P.2d 993, 995 (1986) (the purpose of a complaint is to inform, and a complaint need only contain a concise statement of facts; issue formulation is for discovery, and pleadings do not carry the burden of factual revelation); *Crews v. Ellis*, 531 So. 2d 1372, 1377, 1988 Fla. App. LEXIS 4393, \*15, 13 Fla. L. Weekly 2247 (1988) (it is error to dismiss a complaint when additional factual development is possible); *Beal v. Mars Larsen Ranch Corp.*, 99 Idaho 662, 667-68, 586 P.2d 1378, 1383-84 (1978) ("The relationship of client and attorney is one of trust, binding an attorney to the utmost good faith in dealing with his client. In the discharge of that trust, an attorney must act with complete fairness, honor, honesty, loyalty, and fidelity in all his dealings with his client. An attorney is held to strict accountability for the performance and observance of those professional duties and for a breach or violation thereof, the client may hold the attorney liable or accountable."). See also *Blough v. Wellman*, 132 Idaho 424, 426, 974 P.2d 70, 72 (1999) (citing *Beal v. Mars*). For arguments to this effect, see Tr. Vol. 1, p. 17, ln. 15-25, p. 18, ln. 1, 7-16.<sup>2</sup>

Parkinson explained to the District Court the impropriety in dismissing her breach of fiduciary duty claim when she was not capable of advancing the claim as a legal malpractice claim. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 18, ln. 19-25). Parkinson reminded the District Court that *Rockefeller I* imposed a high duty of loyalty on Bevis and that Bevis' breach of that duty was remediable, even in the absence of dam-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See R. Vol. 1, p. 235, where Parkinson explains that Bevis has, is, and continues to withhold his litigation files from Parkinson, and that she needs to conduct discovery on the files in order to further support her claims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There were two hearings in this matter. "Tr. Vol. 1" is used by Appellant to refer to the February 6, 2018 hearing, and "Tr. Vol. II" is used by Appellant to refer to the June 4, 2018 hearing.

ages. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 21, ln. 8-20). The District Court erred by disregarding these legally valid arguments and in dismissing the claim when it was clearly not duplicative of a malpractice claim. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 114, 247-248) (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 19, ln. 18-25; p. 20, ln. 1-7).

#### b. The District Court Should Have Permitted Parkinson's Amendments:

The District Court also erred because it did not allow Parkinson a chance to amend her claim. The Court relied extensively on the Texas case *Beck v. Law Offices of Edwin J. Terry, Jr., P.C.*, 284 S.W.3d 416 (Tex. App. 2009), together with the Restatement 2d of Agency § 395, to conclude that a breach of fiduciary duty claim must include allegations that the attorney tried to obtain an improper benefit from his or her breach. (R. Vol. 1, p. 112). The Court then denied Parkinson's proposed amendments because Parkinson had not alleged that Bevis personally benefited from his breach of her attorney-client confidences:

Here Plaintiff does not allege Defendant had a conflict of interest, that he stood to benefit himself by sharing her email with the other attorney, or that he lied to her in any way. She simply claims, essentially, that the rules of conduct that govern Defendant's profession precluded him from sharing her email without her permission and that he did so anyway. While Plaintiff has chosen to articulate that claim in the language of an action for breach of fiduciary duty, it is, at its essence, a claim that Defendant did not exercise the care his profession demands in handling her communications. That is a claim for professional negligence.

(R. vo. 1, p. 113).

But the Court's conclusion on the matter is focused too narrowly on the *Beck* case and the Restatement 2d of Agency § 395. For instance, the Court in *Beck* reminds us that the general prohibition against claim-fracturing is meant to exclude claims which are truly duplicative of each other: "When cases say that clients cannot divide or fracture their negligence claims against their attorneys into other claims, this does not mean that clients can sue their attorneys only for negligence. Nor does the non-fracturing rule necessarily bar a client from simultaneously asserting professional negligence and non-negligence claims against an attorney that are predicated on some common or over-

lapping facts. However, the claimant must do more than merely reassert the same claim for legal malpractice under an alternative label." Id., p. 427 (emphasis added). Instead of focusing its attention on the "improper benefits" factor, the District Court should have focused on whether Parkinson was trying to "reassert the same claim" that she might otherwise have asserted in a legal malpractice context. The Court would have then discovered that Parkinson's breach of fiduciary duty claim was not truly duplicative of a malpractice claim due to Parkinson' lack of actual damages. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 133-135). The District Court had already found that "the Supreme Court will not permit clients in Idaho to sue their attorneys under a legal theory other than professional negligence if the client's claim is one that could be brought in professional negligence." (R. Vol. 1, pp. 103-104, emphasis added). Using this logic, the District Court could have, and should have found that sometimes a breach of fiduciary duty claim cannot be litigated as a professional negligence claim due to the lack of actual damages. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 17, ln. 12-25; p. 18, ln. 1-8). The Court should have then found that Parkinson' claim fits this category of claims and should have permitted the claim to proceed under the standards of Rockefeller I and the Restatement 3d of the Law Governing Lawyers, § 37 (3rd 2000). The District Court erred in finding that Parkinson's claim was "at its essence" a malpractice claim, because the claim did not fit the definition of a traditional malpractice claim. (R. Vol. 1, p. 113). Parkinson made it very clear to the Court that her breach of duty claim was not a malpractice claim due to lack of the necessary element of damages. (R. vol 1, pp. 38, 133-135). (See also Tr. Vol. 2, p. 7, ln. 3-11; p. 8, ln. 16-24).

The Court in *Beck* continues: "If a client seeks the remedy of equitable fee forfeiture and proves a breach of fiduciary duty by the attorney, the client may obtain that remedy without need to prove causation or damages if the court finds the attorney's conduct was a clear and serious breach of duty and that forfeiture of the fee (or some portion of it) is necessary to satisfy the public's interest in protecting the attorney-client relationship." *Beck*, p. 429. Parkinson explained to the Dis-

trict Court in her briefing that Bevis had an ethical duty under I.R.P.C. 1.6 to keep her emails confidential. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 138-139). Parkinson further explained to the District Court that she did not give Bevis permission to share her "I am sick to my stomach" email with her litigation opponent, and that the disclosure has significantly impaired the value of Bevis' general services to Parkinson. (Id.). The official comments to Rule 1.6 explain the mandatory nature of Bevis' duty to keep Parkinson's confidences:

A fundamental principle in the client-lawyer relationship is that, in the absence of the client's informed consent, the lawyer must not reveal information relating to the representation...this contributes to the trust that is the hallmark of the client-lawyer relationship. The client is thereby encouraged to seek legal assistance and to communicate fully and frankly with the lawyer even as to embarrassing or legally damaging subject matter... The rule of client-lawyer confidentiality applies in situations other than those where evidence is sought from the lawyer through compulsion of law. The confidentiality rule, for example, applies not only to matters communicated in confidence by the client but also to all information relating to the representation, whatever its source.

I.R.P.C. 1.6, Comments [2] and [3]. According to these official comments, Idaho's rule on confidentiality applies to all case-related information, including all of the client's personal or embarrassing information. Here, Bevis disclosed an embarrassing and emotionally damaging email to Parkinson's soon-to-be ex-husband, leaving Parkinson with feelings of shame and inferiority as to how she faired in divorce—something she can never repair in terms of her own self-image and emotional esteem. Surely, Idaho public policy, including the policies contained in I.R.P.C. 1.6 and *Rockefeller I*, is broad enough to cover Parkinson's situation, where the public has an interest in deterring attorneys like Bevis from sharing their clients' private email communications with their litigation opponents just because the case is over. That policy is broad enough to subject Bevis to a civil claim for partial fee disgorgement.

The District Court also erred in applying the Restatement 2d of Agency § 395 to Parkinson's claim. (R. Vol. 1, p. 113). This Restatement section is limited to scenarios where the disloyal agent

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