Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-7-2019

Parkinson v. Bevis Respondent's Brief Dckt. 46269

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

Here, as in the underlying action, Mrs. Parkinson's arguments are without foundation and unreasonable. The District Court, following this Court's well-established precedent, determined that "Plaintiff may not bring a claim for breach of a fiduciary duty against her attorney if the crux of her complaint is that her attorney did not provide adequate legal representation. In that event, the Plaintiff must pursue an action for professional negligence." (R. Vol. I, p. 108-109.)

Here, Mrs. Parkinson's claim was never fairly debatable because the crux of her claim was always an alleged failure to provide adequate legal representation and she conceded she suffered no damages caused by any alleged breach of fiduciary duty. (*See, e.g.*, Mrs. Parkinson's Response to Mr. Bevis's Mot. To Dismiss at R. Vol. I, p. 38 ("Admittedly, Bevis's breach did not affect the substance of Parkinson's divorce, as the parties had already settled at the time of his emails. Instead, the breach impaired the value of Bevis's services.").) Mrs. Parkinson never distinguished her case from a legal professional negligence claim except in arguing that she should be exempt from proving the elements of professional negligence because of the form of recovery she sought. She offered no authority for the proposition that simply seeking a different form of damages could change the nature of the cause of action itself, and Idaho case law unequivocally discourages that concept. *See Doe v. Boy Scouts of Am.*, 159 Idaho 103, 105, 356 P.3d 1049, 1051 (2015) (the focus is not on the remedy sought or the type of damages, but on the source of the damages).

Mrs. Parkinson had no basis to allege, and did not allege, that Mr. Bevis did anything to give rise to a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against an attorney to the extent that cause of action is recognized in Idaho law. Mrs. Parkinson did not allege that Mr. Bevis had a conflict of interest, that he stood to benefit himself by sharing her email with the other attorney, or that he lied to her in any way. From the start, it was clear that Mrs. Parkinson could not distinguish her claim from a cause of action for professional negligence. For that reason, Mrs. Parkinson pursued her action, and this appeal, unreasonably and in violation of Idaho Code section 12-121, and an award of attorney fees is appropriate.

IV. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

The District Court correctly ruled that Mrs. Parkinson failed to state a claim in her Complaint. The District Court also correctly exercised its discretion when it denied Mrs. Parkinson's requests to amend her Complaint because Mrs. Parkinson's amended allegations, even if allowed, failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. Mrs. Parkinson conceded she suffered no monetary damage from the alleged breach that formed the foundation of her claim against Mr. Bevis, and therefore, she could not prove a legal professional negligence cause of action. Also undisputed was that the alleged act which was the gravamen for her Complaint arose from her attorney-client relationship with Mr. Bevis.

In dismissing Mrs. Parkinson's Complaint and in denying her request to amend her Complaint, the District Court correctly applied Idaho law, primarily this Court's analysis in *Bishop* *v. Owens*, 152 Idaho 616, 272 P.3d 1247 (2012), and found that Mrs. Parkinson had not made an allegation upon which a breach of fiduciary duty cause of action against her former attorney could survive. The District Court applied the law and reached the correct conclusion – that Mrs. Parkinson did not, and could not, state a claim upon which relief could be granted.

In support of her theory that she should be able to pursue an action against Mr. Bevis even though she suffered no damage, Mrs. Parkinson urges this Court to apply its holding in *Rockefeller v. Grabow*, 136 Idaho 637, 39 P.3d 577 (2001) ("*Rockefeller I*"). Notably, *Rockefeller I* has no application to Mrs. Parkinson's claim because *Rockefeller I* was not a legal malpractice case, but was instead a case involving a real estate agent and involved allegations of the real estate agent's breach of fiduciary duty by misleading his principals for personal gain. *Rockefeller I* is inapposite, and the District Court appropriately distinguished it from Mrs. Parkinson's claims.

Mrs. Parkinson also urges this Court to adopt and apply the Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 37 (2000), a section that has never been adopted by this Court, and to ignore this Court's holdings in prior cases such as *Lapham v. Stewart*, 137 Idaho 582, 588, 51 P.3d 396, 402 (2002); *Bishop*, 152 Idaho at 621, 272 P.3d at 1252; *Greenfield v. Smith*, 162 Idaho 246, 395 P.3d 1279, 1284 (2017). (*See* Appellant Brief at 4.) Based on the principle of *stare decisis* and because the current state of the law strikes the right balance between discouraging attorney misconduct without adopting draconian penalties for alleged mistakes, this Court should decline Mrs. Parkinson's invitation to upend established Idaho law. "*Stare decisis* dictates that we follow controlling precedent, unless it is manifestly wrong, unless it has proven over time to be unjust or unwise, or unless overturning it is necessary to vindicate plain, obvious principles of law and remedy continued injustice." *State v. Bradshaw*, 155 Idaho 437, 439, 313 P.3d 765, 767 (Ct. App. 2013) (reaffirming prior holding because appellant failed to show that the prior holding was

manifestly wrong, had proven to be unjust or unwise, or was inconsistent with longstanding legal principles). Here, Mrs. Parkinson has not demonstrated that this Court's prior holdings in *Bishop*, *Lapham*, or *Greenfield* were manifestly wrong, unjust or unwise, or inconsistent with longstanding legal principles. Mrs. Parkinson largely avoids those relevant cases and instead focuses on other, inapposite, and often inapplicable authorities.

Additionally, this Court's holding that "[1]egal malpractice has traditionally been treated as the proper claim where an attorney breaches his or her duty, which arises from the attorneyclient relationship," *Bishop*, 152 Idaho 621, 272 P.3d at 1252, combined with other consequences of misconduct, appropriately discourages attorneys from the type of conduct Mrs. Parkinson complains of without going so far as to make the profession more perilous than it needs to be. The rule that Mrs. Parkinson encourages this Court to adopt would allow a client to threaten an attorney to disgorge all fees earned for months or years of work due to an alleged error, no matter how minor, that caused no actual damage. This Court's prior rulings establish that where an attorney breaches a professional duty to a client and causes damage, the client can recover. *See, e.g., Greenfield*, 162 Idaho at 252, 395 P.3d at 1285. Idaho law should not be expanded to encompass the type of claim Mrs. Parkinson attempted to bring against Mr. Bevis.

V. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

A. Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim

A district court's dismissal of a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Idaho Rules of Civil procedure "shall be reviewed *de novo.*" *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 832, 243 P.3d 642, 648 (2010).

When this Court reviews an order dismissing an action pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), we apply the same standard of review we apply to a motion for summary judgment. After viewing all facts and inferences from the record in favor of the non-moving party, the Court will ask whether a claim for relief has been stated. The

issue is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether the party is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims.

Id.

B. <u>Motion to Amend</u>

"The Court reviews a district court's decision to grant or deny a motion to amend for abuse of discretion." *DAFCO LLC v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 156 Idaho 749, 753, 331 P.3d 491, 495 (2014).

When this Court reviews an alleged abuse of discretion by a trial court the sequence of inquiry requires consideration of *four* essentials. Whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason.

Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163 Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018) (emphasis in original).

C. Motion for Reconsideration

When reviewing a district court's decision to grant or deny a motion for reconsideration, "this Court utilizes the same standard of review used by the lower court in deciding the motion for reconsideration." *Fragnella v. Petrovich*, 153 Idaho 266, 276, 281 P.3d 103, 113 (2012). The Motion for Reconsideration here was related to a decision to grant a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim which is subject to *de novo* review, so the Motion for Reconsideration will also be subject to *de novo* review. *See Taylor*, 149 Idaho at 832, 243 P.3d at 648. Mrs. Parkinson's Motion for Reconsideration also asked the District Court to reconsider its decision to disallow an amendment of the Complaint, which is subject to an abuse of discretion level of review. *See DAFCO LLC*, 156 Idaho at 753, 331 P.3d at 495.

D. Costs and Fees Award

"An award of attorney fees and costs is within the discretion of the trial court and subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. The party disputing the award of attorney fees has the burden of showing an abuse of discretion." *Smith v. Mitton*, 140 Idaho 893, 901, 104 P.3d 367, 375 (2004) (internal citations omitted). Determining whether the trial court abused its discretion is a four-step analysis as outlined above. *Lunneborg*, 163 Idaho at 863, 421 P.3d at 194.

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>The District Court did not err in granting Mr. Bevis' Motion to Dismiss.</u>

In this case, the trial court dismissed the Complaint due to Mrs. Parkinson's failure to plead (1) facts establishing her allegation that a confidential, privileged communication was disclosed, (2) all elements of a claim that her attorney failed to fully and completely evaluate the value of the community property during the divorce proceedings, and (3) all elements of a claim that her attorney "was complicit" with her husband's attorney in securing a divorce more favorable to her husband than to her. (R. Vol. I, p. 109-111.) As the District Court noted, denial based on the second and third theories was appropriate because Mrs. Parkinson conceded that she cannot show damages, which is a required element to a legal professional negligence cause of action. (*Id.* at 110-111.) Indeed, Mrs. Parkinson does not challenge the dismissal of her action on these two grounds. (*See* Appellant's Brief.)

Rather, Mrs. Parkinson takes issue with the dismissal based on the first ground, that she failed to allege facts establishing a cause of action based on her allegation that Mr. Bevis disclosed a confidential, privileged communication. The District Court's decision on this issue was correct, and should be affirmed, for two primary reasons. First, Mrs. Parkinson's pleadings failed to satisfy the "notice pleading" standard applied in Idaho. Second, the District Court's decision ultimately

overlooked Mrs. Parkinson's deficient pleading, assumed Mrs. Parkinson had made a more robust set of allegations, and was based on what Mrs. Parkinson could have alleged.

1. The District Court correctly concluded that Mrs. Parkinson's Complaint failed to include a concise statement of the facts constituting a cause of action.

"A pleading that states a claim for relief must contain: . . . a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." I.R.C.P. 8(a). Idaho applies a noticepleading standard for interpreting the sufficiency of a pleading, "which inquires whether a pleading suffices to put the adverse party on notice of the claims brought against it." *Hodge for & on behalf of Welch v. Waggoner*, 164 Idaho 89, 425 P.3d 1232, 1239 (2018), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 1, 2018) (internal citation omitted). "The purpose of a complaint is to inform the defendant of the material facts upon which the plaintiff bases his action. A complaint need only contain a concise statement of the facts constituting the cause of action and a demand for relief." *Clark v. Olsen*, 110 Idaho 323, 325, 715 P.2d 993, 995 (1986) (internal citations omitted). Factual contentions in a pleading must have "evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery." I.R.C.P. 11(b).

Pleadings which fail to state a claim for relief are subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. "A 12(b)(6) motion looks only at the pleadings to determine whether a claim for relief has been stated." *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 833, 243 P.3d 642, 649 (2010). "While we 'will make every intendment to sustain a complaint that is defective, *e.g.*, wrongly captioned or inartful, a complaint cannot be sustained if it fails to make a short and plain statement of a claim upon which relief may be granted." *Id.* at 843–44 (internal citations omitted). When a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is considered, "the non-moving party is entitled to have all inferences from the record viewed in his favor. After drawing all inferences in the non-moving party's favor, we then ask whether a claim for relief has been

stated." *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159 (2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted). "Even under the liberal notice pleading standard, a complaint must reasonably imply the theory upon which relief is being sought." *Brown v. City of Pocatello*, 148 Idaho 802, 808, 229 P.3d 1164, 1170 (2010).

An example of a complaint that fails to provide sufficient allegations to state a claim is in *Mortensen v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 149 Idaho 437, 443, 235 P.3d 387, 393 (2010). In *Mortensen*, the plaintiff argued that his complaint raised a quasi-estoppel claim. *Id.* In determining that the plaintiff waived his quasi-estoppel claim, this Court noted that the complaint lacked any mention of quasi-estoppel and the factual allegations did not set forth facts which would satisfy the elements of a quasi-estoppel claim. *Id.* This Court observed that the defendant indeed was not on notice of a quasi-estoppel claim and concluded that the complaint did not properly raise a quasi-estoppel claim. *Id.* at 444, 235 P.3d at 394.

Here, Mrs. Parkinson's Complaint failed to satisfy even the liberal notice pleading standard, and dismissal was appropriate. Mrs. Parkinson's Complaint failed to inform Mr. Bevis (and the District Court) of the material facts upon which Mrs. Parkinson based her action. In "support" of her single claim, Mrs. Parkinson alleged only the following:

- "During the course of Bevis' representation of Parkinson, Bevis, without Parkinson's knowledge or consent, shared attorney-client confidential information with Joe Parkinson's attorney, Stanley Welsh." (R. Vol. I, p. 6).
- Mr. Bevis "was subject to ethical and fiduciary duties to Parkinson during his representation of her in the divorce proceedings" (R. Vol. I, p. 7).
- "Upon information and belief, Bevis breached his duties to Parkinson by, among other things, disclosing attorney client privileged communications to Welsh during the course of

the divorce proceedings, all to Parkinson's damage in an amount to be proven at time of trial." (*Id.*)

Mrs. Parkinson did not identify in her Complaint the privileged communication that was allegedly disclosed and did not allege she instructed Mr. Bevis to keep the communication private. Given Mrs. Parkinson's allegations were conclusory and did not sufficiently put Mr. Bevis on notice of the material facts upon which her action was based, the District Court – like the Court in *Mortensen* – correctly determined the Complaint did not plead a claim upon which relief could be granted.

2. Even if the District Court's analysis of the allegations in the Complaint was an error, it was harmless because the district court considered what Mrs. Parkinson could have alleged, not simply the allegations in her Complaint.

Here, even if the District Court erred in dismissing Mrs. Parkinson's Complaint based on insufficient allegations of facts supporting her claim for relief – which it did not – the error was harmless because the District Court went on to consider whether it should allow Mrs. Parkinson to amend her Complaint to remedy its deficiencies. (R. Vol. I, p. 111.) "When an error does not affect the substantial right of a party, the error is harmless." *W. Cmty. Ins. Co. v. Burks Tractor Co., Inc.*, 164 Idaho 215, 428 P.3d 793, 797 (2018), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 31, 2018). This Court has also noted that it ""must disregard all errors and defects that do not affect any party's substantial rights." *Id.* (citing I.R.C.P. 61.)

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